IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

Case No. CS03-59

Lower Tribunal Case No.: 3D01-2081

COWAN LIEBOWITZ & LATMAN, P.C., STEPHEN M. ROSENBERG, FRANZINO & ROSENBERG, P.C., JAMES J. D'ESPOSITO, MARSHALL PLATT, MARSHALL DOUGLAS PLATT, P.A., JACK B. PACKAR, P.A. and PACKAR AND PLATT,

Petitioners,

V.

DONALD KAPLAN, ASSIGNEE FOR THE BENEFIT OF CREDITORS OF MEDICAL RESEARCH INDUSTRIES, INC.,

Res	pond	lent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONERS COWAN LIEBOWITZ & LATMAN, P.C., FRANZINO & ROSENBERG, P.C., MARSHALL PLATT, MARSHALL DOUGLAS PLATT, P.A., JACK B. PACKAR P.A. AND PACKAR AND PLATT

On Discretionary Review From a Decision of the Third District Court of Appeal

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Nature of the Case

This is an appeal from a decision of the Third District Court of Appeal reversing the trial court's dismissal with prejudice of legal malpractice claims against the former attorneys for Medical Research Industries, Inc. ("MRI"), brought not by MRI, but by Donald Kaplan ("Kaplan") in his capacity as the assignee of MRI, pursuant to § 727.104, Fla.Stat.¹ The trial court granted the Attorneys' motions to dismiss on standing grounds; the Third District reversed; and this Court accepted jurisdiction to resolve the conflict between the decision of the Third District and this Court's decisions in KPMG Peat Marwick v. Nat'l Union Fire Ins. Co. of Pittsburgh, Pa., 765 So.2d 36 (Fla. 2000); Forgione v. Dennis Pirtle Agency, Inc., 701 So.2d 557 (Fla. 1997); Espinosa v. Sparber, Shevin, Shapiro Rosen & Heilbronner, 612 So.2d 1378 (Fla. 1993); and Angel, Cohen & Rogovin v. Oberon Investment, N.V., 512 So.2d 192 (Fla. 1987).

The former attorneys named as defendants in the Complaint were Cowan Liebowitz & Latman, P.C., Stephen M. Rosenberg, Franzino & Rosenberg, P.C., James J. D'Esposito, Marshall Platt, Marshall Douglas Platt, P.A., Jack B. Packar, P.A., and Packar and Platt (collectively, the "Attorneys").

Statement of Facts²

a. The Assignment to Kaplan.

On or about November 12, 1999, MRI executed an "Assignment for the Benefit of Creditors," pursuant to which it assigned to Kaplan (and "his successors and assigns") "all of its assets, except such assets as are exempt by law from levy and sale under an execution, including, but not limited to, . . . claims and demands belonging to" MRI. See Complaint, Exhibit A (Vol. V; R.1574-1612.) It is based on this assignment that Kaplan asserts that he "has sole and complete authority to bring this action" against MRI's former attorneys. Id. at ¶ 4.

b. <u>Kaplan's Claims Against the Attorneys.</u>

According to Kaplan, William Tishman formed MRI in 1995 to develop and market homeopathic medical products. <u>Id.</u> at ¶¶ 15, 16. "Soon after forming MRI," however, "Tishman sought to raise capital for MRI through private placement memoranda." <u>Id.</u> at ¶ 17. Shares in MRI were to be offered only to physicians on MRI's "Medical Advisory Board" and were not registered for that reason. <u>Id.</u> at ¶ 29. The Complaint alleges that, according to the private placement memoranda, the funds raised by the sale of share were to be used "to operate and expand the business of MRI." <u>Id.</u> at ¶ 33. In all, Kaplan alleges, four private placement memoranda (and one "supplement") were issued between 1996 and 1998, raising in excess of \$50

Because the trial court granted the Attorneys' motions to dismiss with prejudice, this statement of facts is derived entirely from the Complaint.

million from approximately 2000 shareholders. <u>Id.</u> at $\P\P$ 25, 28.

According to the Complaint, however, "[t]he proceeds of the private placements were not used for the expansion or operation of MRI." <u>Id.</u> at ¶ 35. Instead, the funds raised were used "in large part to make unsecured loans for the benefit of Tishman," pursuant to a "loan program." <u>Id.</u> at ¶¶ 35, 37. Thus, of the more than \$50 million raised by MRI, "Tishman borrowed approximately \$18 million." <u>Id.</u> at ¶ 38.

Kaplan alleges that the Attorneys "prepared and reviewed most of the documentation relating to the private placement memoranda" for MRI and that "MRI primarily relied [on the Attorneys for advice] on matters of securities and corporate law." Id. at ¶ 23. According to Kaplan, the Attorneys advised MRI, incorrectly, that the shares sold through the private placement memoranda were "exempt from registration by virtue of Regulation D of the Securities Act of 1933." Id. at ¶ 29. Kaplan also complains that the Attorneys "drafted, reviewed and/or approved" the private placement memoranda for MRI and that they "knew or should have known" that the private placement memoranda "did not accurately state the manner" in which the funds raised were to be used, and were therefore "false and misleading" (although they did "recite that MRI had loaned money to Tishman") Id. at ¶¶ 33, 34, 37.

Based on these allegations, Kaplan asserted five claims against the Attorneys – for negligence (Count I), breach of fiduciary duty (Count II), indemnity (Count III) and negligent supervision (Counts IV and V) – all premised on the Attorneys' alleged failure to properly represent and advise

their client, MRI.³

Course of Proceedings

a. The Trial Court.

The Attorneys moved to dismiss the Complaint on multiple grounds. Among other things, the Attorneys argued that Kaplan, as the assignee of MRI, could not bring the legal malpractice claims of the company because, as a matter of black-letter Florida law, legal malpractice claims were not assignable. The Attorneys also argued that the statute upon which Kaplan premised his standing to sue, § 727.104, Fla.Stat., expressly excepted such claims from assignment for the benefit of creditors.⁴ (See, e.g., Vol. V; R.1437-43; Vol. VI; R.1720-35).

After briefing and oral argument, the trial court granted the Attorneys' motions to dismiss with prejudice, on the grounds that Kaplan, as the assignee for the benefit of creditors of MRI, could not assert the legal malpractice claims of MRI. The trial court's reasoning was two-fold. First, the trial court noted that this Court had not recognized (or even suggested that there might be) any exceptions to the general rule of nonassignability of legal malpractice claims. June 15, 2001 Transcript at 19, 25-26 (Vol. V; R.1526-72). Second, the trial court held that the language of § 727.104, Fla.Stat., was clear and that it expressly excepted from assignment for the benefit of

In proceedings subsequent to the issuance of the mandate by the Third District and prior to this Court's acceptance of jurisdiction, the trial court dismissed the negligent supervision claims (Counts IV and V) and Kaplan glected not to replead them as independent counts.

The Attorneys also argued that the claim for indemnity should be dismissed as premature and that the negligent supervision claim was circular and failed to state a claim for relief. The trial court did not find it necessary to reach these arguments.

creditors those assets which, like the legal malpractice claims at issue, were exempt by law from levy or sale under an execution. June 15, 2001 Transcript at 17, 18, 26-27 (Vol. V; R.1526-72).

Accordingly, on or about June 26, 2001, the trial court entered an Order dismissing the action with prejudice:

The Motions to Dismiss are GRANTED. The Court holds that plaintiff Donald Kaplan, as the assignee for the benefit of creditors of Medical Research Industries, Inc. ("MRI"), pursuant to Chapter 727, Florida Statutes, lacks standing to sue defendants for legal malpractice alleged in connection with defendants' representation of MRI. Such claims are not assignable as a matter of Florida law, see, e.g., KPMG Peat Marwick v. Nat'l Union Fire Ins. Co., 765 So.2d 36 (Fla. 2000); Forgione v. Dennis Pirtle Agency, Inc., 701 So.2d 557 (Fla. 1997). In addition, such claims are "exempt by law from levy and sale under an execution" and are therefore excepted from assignment pursuant to Section 727.104, Florida Statutes. See §727.104, Fla. Stat.; Craft v. Craft, 757 So.2d 571 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000); Mickler v. Aaron, 490 So.2d 1343 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986).

June 26, 2001 Order at ¶1 (Vol. VI; R.1751-53).

b. MRI's Claims Against the Attorneys.

After the June 15, 2001 hearing on the Attorneys' motions to dismiss and before the Order memorializing the trial court's holdings had been entered, MRI filed legal malpractice actions against the Attorneys in its own name in New York and Broward County asserting the very claims that Kaplan had purported to assert in his capacity as the assignee of MRI in this action.⁵ See Medical Research Industries, Inc.,

The Court: Assuming that's correct, couldn't MRI bring this in its own name?

Notably, at the June 15, 2001 hearing, the trial court raised this very possibility:

et al. v. Cowan Liebowitz & Latman, P.C., et al., Index No. 112545/01 (the "New York action"); Medical Research Industries, Inc., et al. v. Cowan Liebowitz & Latman, P.C., et al., Case No. 01-011323 (the "Broward County action"). As of this writing, MRI's Broward County action remains pending.⁶

Disposition in the Lower Tribunal

On or about July 26, 2001, Kaplan filed his notice of appeal in this action. (Vol. VI; R.1742-47.) Following briefing and oral argument, in an opinion filed October 23, 2002, the Third District Court of Appeal reversed the June 26, 2001 Order of the trial court dismissing Kaplan's claims. October 23, 2002 Opinion (Vol. VI; R.1754-58.)

According to the Third District, the "issue before [the court was] whether an assignee (actually transferee) acting as a fiduciary for a corporation has standing to bring a legal malpractice action on behalf of the now-defunct corporation." Appendix, slip op. at 3. The court acknowledged the holding of <u>Forgione</u>, in which this Court "recognize[d] the general prohibition in Florida of the ordinary assignment of legal malpractice claims," but then held that this Court had "modified" the holding of <u>Forgione</u> in <u>KPMG</u>. <u>Id.</u> The Third District described the holding in <u>KPMG</u> in this way:

The <u>KPMG</u> court concluded that the public policies discussed in <u>Forgione</u> (requiring attorney malpractice claims to be non-transferable as personal torts) do not apply where

Ms. Besvinick: Yes. I think that's right.

June 15, 2001 Transcript at 7 (Vol.V; R.1526-72).

MRI voluntarily dismissed the redundant New York action on or about April 5, 2002.

the claims involve reliance on the allegedly confidential information by interests other than the entity for whom the information was prepared. <u>KPMG</u> at 38-39. The <u>KPMG</u> court determined that where an entity "assumes a <u>public</u> responsibility transcending any employment relationship with the client . ." that entity "owes ultimate allegiance to the corporation's creditors and stockholders, as well as to investing public." <u>KPMG</u> at 38.

Appendix, slip op. at 3-4.

The court then analogized the role of the auditors in <u>KPMG</u> to the role of the Attorneys here: "Because the legal services at issue here are not personal in nature but involved the publication of corporate information to third parties, i.e., the investors, the policies underlying the prohibition of bare assignment of legal malpractice claims are inapplicable under these circumstances." Appendix, slip op. at 5. The court also held, without citation, that Kaplan was "no different from a trustee in bankruptcy who has full standing to bring a debtor's legal malpractice claim." <u>Id.</u> The court therefore concluded that Kaplan "ha[d] standing to bring the claims for malpractice against the Attorneys." <u>Id.</u>

"For the same reasons," the Third District also held that the trial court had "incorrectly determined that [the claims against the Attorneys were] exempt by law from levy and sale under an execution of assignment, pursuant to section 727.104." Id.

A timely motion for rehearing or, in the alternative, for certification was denied by the Third District on December 11, 2002, whereupon the Attorneys timely filed a notice to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court. By Order dated May 8, 2003, this Court accepted jurisdiction.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court has repeatedly and in multiple contexts recognized the unique and personal character of the attorney-client relationship. Thus, in <u>Forgione</u> and <u>KPMG</u>, this Court expressly recognized that the unique quality of legal services, the personal nature of the attorney's duty to the client and the confidentiality of the attorney-client relationship all militated against allowing the assignment of legal malpractice claims. For much the same reasons, this Court has consistently limited attorneys' liability in negligence to clients with whom they share privity of contract. <u>See Espinosa</u>; <u>Angel</u>. Moreover, the decisions of the district courts of appeal have been uniformly in accord.

The decision of the Third District marks a dramatic departure from this unbroken line of Florida law and it should be reversed. There are three reasons.

<u>First</u>, this Court has consistently held that legal malpractice claims are not assignable and, prior to the decision of the Third District in this case, no Florida court has ever recognized an exception to that rule. As this Court has previously recognized, there are strong public policies supporting the rule of nonassignability and, contrary to the decision of the Third District, those policies apply with equal force in this case. Moreover, the substantial majority of states to have considered the question have likewise concluded that legal malpractice claims cannot be assigned.

Second, this Court has consistently held that only clients may sue their attorneys for legal malpractice. Moreover, where, as here, the client is a corporation, Florida law is equally clear that the "client" is the corporation itself, and not the creditors or shareholders of the corporation. Contrary to this well-established law, the

Third District reasoned that the policies underlying the rule of nonassignability (and therefore the rule itself) did not apply in this case because the Attorneys were alleged to have provided legal advice to a corporation in connection with its issuance of private placement memoranda to "prospective shareholders." The court therefore analogized the Attorneys' role and duty to the role and duty of the auditors of financial statements. The Court should reverse the decision of the Third District and reaffirm the longstanding principle that an attorney representing a corporation owes "ultimate allegiance" to the corporation, not to its "creditors and stockholders," and that only the corporation, as the attorney's client, has standing to assert a legal malpractice claim against its attorney.

Third, the statute upon which Kaplan premised his standing to sue – Chapter 727, Fla.Stat., the assignment for the benefit of creditors statute – expressly excepts from assignment those assets exempt by law from forced sale. Legal malpractice claims, precisely because they are considered personal, are exempt and therefore do not pass by assignment under Chapter 727. Moreover, the legislative history of Chapter 727 confirms that such assets were intended to remain the property of the debtor-assignor. In this regard, a state law assignment for the benefit of creditors is entirely different from federal bankruptcy (contrary to the Third District's unsupported conclusion that an assignee is "no different from a trustee in bankruptcy").

This Court has consistently recognized that only clients may sue their attorneys for professional malpractice and that third parties, including assignees, cannot. There is no reason to change that rule or to depart from it in this case.

Accordingly, the decision of the Third District should be reversed with instructions that this action be dismissed with prejudice.⁷

The trial granted the Attorneys' motions to dismiss with prejudice. The Order of the trial court is therefore "subject to de novo review." <u>Siegle v. Progressive Consumers Ins. Co.</u>, 819 So.2d 732, 734 (Fla. 2002).

ARGUMENT

I. The Court Should Reaffirm the General Rule That Legal Malpractice Claims Are Not Assignable as a Matter of Florida Law.

This Court has repeatedly held that legal malpractice claims are not assignable in Florida. The Court first considered the issue in Forgione v. Dennis Pirtle Agency, Inc., 701 So.2d 557, 559 (Fla. 1997). The question presented in Forgione was whether a claim for negligence by an insured against an insurance agent for failure to procure appropriate insurance could be assigned to a third party. Id. at 558. The Court held that such a claim could be assigned because the relationship between an insured and his insurance agent, unlike the relationship between a client and his attorney, was not personal. Id. at 559-60.

The starting point of the Court's analysis was the Florida law holding that legal malpractice claims are not assignable:

Florida law views <u>legal malpractice</u> as a personal tort which <u>cannot be assigned</u> because of 'the personal nature of legal services which involve highly confidential relationships.'

Id. (quoting Washington v. Fireman's Fund Ins. Co., 459 So.2d 1148, 1149 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984)) (emphasis added). The Court then went on to contrast the attorney-client relationship and the insurance agent-insured relationship. The Court noted that attorneys and clients have "a confidential relationship, which includes constraints upon information that can be disclosed to others," whereas the law imposes no "similar constraints on communications between an insurance agent and an insured." Id. at 560. The Court also noted that "[t]he relationship between an attorney and client is a fiduciary relation of the very highest character, and the attorney owes a duty of

undivided loyalty to the client." Id. An insurance agent, in contrast, although "required to use reasonable skill and diligence in obtaining coverage for an insured," "also owes the insurance company . . . an obligation of high fidelity." Id. Lastly, the Court noted that the relationship between attorney and client is "a personal one" and that an attorney "may not substitute another attorney" without the client's permission, whereas insurance agents are routinely "substituted without prior notification." Id. Based upon these "substantial differences," the Court concluded that the public policy considerations that supported the rule of nonassignability of legal malpractice claims did not apply and that an insured's negligence claim against his insurance agent could be assigned.

The Court next considered the rule of nonassignability of legal malpractice claims in <u>KPMG Peat Marwick v. Nat'l Union Fire Ins. Co.</u>, 765 So.2d 36 (Fla. 2000). The question presented in <u>KPMG</u> was whether a claim for professional malpractice against an independent auditor could be assigned. <u>Id.</u> at 36. Just as in <u>Forgione</u>, the starting point of the Court's analysis was the Florida law holding that legal malpractice claims are not assignable. Describing its earlier holding in <u>Forgione</u>, the Court stated:

This Court noted that legal malpractice claims are not assignable because of the personal nature of legal services which involve a confidential, fiduciary relationship of the very highest character, with an undivided duty of loyalty owed to the client.

<u>KPMG</u>, 765 So.2d at 38.

The Court then went on, just as it did in <u>Forgione</u>, to contrast the attorney-client relationship and the auditor-client relationship. The Court noted that

"an accountant's duty of confidentiality is similar to that of an attorney," but distinguished "the type of accountant-client relationship in which the accountant is an independent auditor hired to give an opinion on financial statements." <u>Id.</u> at 38. The Court then stressed the very different roles and duties assumed by attorneys, who owe an "undivided to duty of loyalty" to their clients, and "independent auditors," who assume "a public responsibility transcending any [client] relationship." <u>Id.</u> Thus, the Court held:

<u>Unlike an attorney</u> who is required to zealously represent a client's position in an adversarial setting, <u>an independent auditor</u> who is hired to give an opinion on a client's financial statements must do so with an independent impartiality which contemplates reliance upon the audit by interests other than the entity upon which the audit is performed.

<u>Id.</u> (emphasis added)⁸

In its decision, the Third District acknowledged this Court's clear statement in Forgione that legal malpractice claims are not assignable in Florida. However, the court then went on, incorrectly, to state that <u>KPMG</u> had "modified" Forgione to permit assignment "where the claims involve reliance on the allegedly confidential information by interests other than the entity for whom the information was prepared." Appendix, slip op. at 3.

As our review of Forgione and KPMG makes clear, however, KPMG did

⁸

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