#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. SC03-59
District Case No.: 3D01-2081
Circuit Case No. 99-26596-CA(04)

COWAN LIEBOWITZ & LATMAN, P.C., STEPHEN M.
ROSENBERG, FRANZINO & ROSENBERG, P.C., JAMES J.
D'ESPOSITO, MARSHALL PLATT, MARSHALL DOUGLAS
PLATT, P.A., JACK B. PACKAR, P.A. AND PACKAR AND PLATT,

Petitioners,

v.

# DONALD KAPLAN, ASSIGNEE FOR THE BENEFIT OF MEDICAL RESEARCH INDUSTRIES, INC.,

Respondent.

On Discretionary Review From a Decision of the Third District Court of Appeal

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT DONALD KAPLAN, ASSIGNEE FOR THE BENEFIT OF MEDICAL RESEARCH INDUSTRIES, INC.

FOWLER WHITE BURNETT P.A.

**Union Planters Tower, Suite 1100** 

100 Southeast Third Avenue

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

This Court should also decline to accept the Petitioners' construction of the Assignment statute because such a result also clashes with the statutory purpose of the assignment statute, with justice, and with common sense. A literal interpretation of the language of a statute need not be given when to do so would lead to an unreasonable or ridiculous

conclusion, or would result in a manifest incongruity. *Holly v. Auld*, 450 So. 2d 217 (Fla. 1984); *Las Olas Tower Co.* v. City of Fort Lauderdale, 733 So. 2d 1034 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999), superseded on other grounds in part, 742 So. 2d 308 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999).

*Becker v. Amos*, 105 Fla. 231, 141 So. 136 (1932)(constructions should be avoided that would operate to impair, pervert, nullify, or defeat the object of the statute).

The claim against the Petitioners is not an asset exempt from forced sale or levy and Kaplan acquired it with the rest of the MRI estate. The Petitioners' argument that the Assignee has no standing to pursue a legal malpractice claim because the claim is exempt by law from forced sale is a circular argument. They contend that because the definition of "assets" in the Assignment for the Benefit of Creditors statute excludes from the estate any "property exempt by law from forced sale," Fla. Stat., § 727.103(1), and because a legal malpractice action is exempt by law from forced sale, MRI could not assign to Kaplan its legal malpractice action. To support their contention that a legal malpractice action is exempt by law from forced sale, the Petitioners cite *Craft v. Craft*, 757 So. 2d 571 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000) and *Mickler v. Aaron*, 490 So. 2d 1343 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986). *Craft* and *Mickler*, however, do not stand for the proposition

that a legal malpractice claim is exempt from forced sale. In *Mickler*, after a plaintiff obtained a judgment, the plaintiff attempted in proceedings supplementary<sup>2</sup> to pursue an action against the defendant's attorney. *Mickler* is nothing more than a recognition of the *Forgione* general unassignability principle. *See Forgione v. Dennis Pirtle Agency*, 701 So.2d 557, 559 (Fla. 1997). *Craft* recognized this principle as well<sup>3</sup>. The *Craft* court specifically cited to *Forgione* in its discussion. *Craft*, 757 So. 2d at 572. Consequently the *Craft* and *Mickler* decisions do nothing more than beg the question in this case — whether an assignee for the benefit of creditors, to whom the *Forgione* factors do not pertain, can bring a claim that ordinary assignees, or *de facto* assignees, such as Mr. Mickler, cannot bring. The claim in *Mickler* was not unassignable because it was exempt from levy; the extent to which it was exempt from levy was because it was unassignable. Therefore, if the claim *were* assignable in the first place, it would not have been exempt

The case at bar is not a post-judgment "proceeding supplementary" Fla. Stat. § 56.29, *et. seq.* as were *Craft* and *Mickler*; it is a "Supplemental Proceeding" as that term is explained in Florida Statutes, Section 727.110; it is supplemental to the principal assignment for the benefit of creditors proceeding, which means, under that statute, that it is brought as a sub-action to that proceeding before the same judge, to implead the defendant's attorneys, claiming malpractice in their representation of the assignor.

Despite that recognition, however, the *Craft* court declined to "broaden the exception for non-assignable 'personal torts'" in that instance. *Id.* at 572.

from levy. In sum, if *Forgione* does not apply, the claim is assignable and there is no exemption issue. The Petitioners confuse cause with effect. *Mickler* can not serve as authority for rendering the claim against the Petitioners exempt under the Fla. Stat. § 727.103(1) (2003). It is a "bootstrap" argument that concludes that malpractice claims in assignments for the benefit of creditors are unassignable because they are exempt from levy. But to determine if they are exempt from levy, one first seek to conclude they are unassignable.

To the extent *Mickler* holds that one cannot execute upon legal malpractice claims, there remains a critical difference between recognizing that prohibition and recognizing an exemption to an assignment to a designated fiduciary as part of an overall liquidation plan. Neither *Craft* nor *Mickler* even remotely suggest that the malpractice claims in those cases were exempt from execution as a specially protected asset in the manner that veteran's benefits or disability benefits are exempt. There is no statutory exemption for malpractice claims.

In any ordinary case, a defendant can seek recovery against the third parties it claims are responsible for the damages that the plaintiff(s) seek(s). In this case, because MRI, Kaplan and the creditors of MRI did in fact implement the Assignment for the Benefit of Creditors statute, all of the claims against MRI were by necessity filed with the

Assignee for the Benefit of Creditors. Section 727.112(2), Florida Statutes, specifically requires that "[c]laims shall be filed by delivering the claim to the assignee." Logically then, having the right to conduct the debtor's business, to marshal and to liquidate its assets, and to receive all of its claims, the Assignee for the Benefit of Creditors should also have right to seek recovery against any third parties that may be responsible for those claims.

C. The Federal Bankruptcy Code and other analogous authority supports the conclusion that an Assignee for the Benefit of Creditors has authority to pursue an assignor debtor's malpractice claim

Florida's Assignment for the Benefit of Creditors statute is unquestionably a state level alternative to federal bankruptcy, which the Florida legislature was presumed to know when it enacted the Assignment statute. *Collins Inv. Co. v. Metropolitan Dade County*, 164 So. 2d 806 (Fla. 1964); *Parker v. State*, 406 So. 2d 1089 (Fla. 1981); *Akins v. Bethea*, 160 Fla. 99, 33 So. 2d 638 (1948). Given that the relevant provisions of the Assignment statute and the Bankruptcy Code are similar, and that bankruptcy law permits a trustee to maintain malpractice actions, an assignee for the benefit of creditors in state court should be permitted to do so as well. *Green v. Burger King Corp.*, 728 So. 2d 369 (Fla. 3d DCA 1999)(in circumstances where a statute may be borrowed from or patterned on identical or similar

provisions in a statute of another state or a federal statute, it is appropriate for the court to resort to the judicial constructions placed on the statute by the courts of those states or the federal courts in construing the subject statute); see also State ex rel. Feldman v. Kelly, 76 So. 2d 798 (Fla. 1954); Gay v. Inter-County Tel. & Tel. Co., 60 So. 2d 22 (Fla. 1952); Tilton v. Horton, 103 Fla. 497, 137 So. 801 (1931), reh'g denied, 103 Fla. 497, 139 So. 142 (1932); Venice East, Inc. v. Manno, 186 So. 2d 71 (Fla. 2d DCA 1966).

The relevant provision in the Assignment statute is comparable to the federal bankruptcy statute. The Assignment statute provides that an

"Asset" means a legal or equitable interest of the assignor in property, which shall include anything that may be the subject of ownership, whether real or personal, tangible or intangible, wherever located and by whomever held at the date of the assignment, *except property exempt by law from forced sale*.

Fla. Stat. § 727.103(1) (2003) (emphasis added). The comparable language in the bankruptcy statute describes the property that a debtor may withhold from the estate and his creditors as:

any property that is exempt under Federal law, other than subsection (d) of this section, or State or local law that is applicable on the date of the filing of the petition.

11 U.S.C. § 522(b)(2)(A) (emphasis added).

The language in the two statutes, as well as their purpose and effect, is similar. The legislature is presumed to know this law. The purposes of the bankruptcy and assignment for the benefit of creditors statutes are similar, the language of the statutes relating to exemptions is similar, and the "spirit and policy" of the statutes are similar. Bankruptcy law is therefore appropriate and persuasive authority to examine in determining whether the assets that a debtor assigns to an assignee for the benefit of creditors includes the debtor's legal malpractice claim(s).

Several cases recognize the right of a bankruptcy trustee to maintain malpractice actions, even in jurisdictions where legal malpractice actions are otherwise unassignable. In bankruptcy, debtors are entitled to exclude from the bankrupt estate the same legal exemptions as one can in assignments for the benefit of creditors, including, notably, the exemptions allowed by state or local law. Because bankruptcy law permits the trustee to maintain malpractice actions, it follows that an assignee for the benefit of creditors in state court should be permitted to do so as well. An assignee for the benefit of creditors is not simply analogous to a bankruptcy trustee; for all purposes relevant to the standing question, an assignee is identical. In a bankruptcy context, the criterion for determining whether a person has standing

to pursue a claim is whether a successful recovery by the appointed representative would benefit the debtor's estate and particularly the debtor's unsecured creditors. *In re Sweetwater*, 884 F.2d 1323 (10th Cir. 1989); *Temex Energy v. Hoste and Kirschner*, 96 B.R. 330 (Bankr. W.D. Okla. 1989); *DuVoisin v. East Tennessee Equity, Ltd.*, 59 B.R. 688 (Bankr. E.D. Tenn. 1986); *see also Lloyd as Trustee and Liquidator of First Assurance and Cas. Co., Ltd. v. Paine Webber, Inc., et al.*, 208 F.3d 755 (9th Cir. 2000); *In re Richman*, 1997 U.S. App. Lexis 16159 (4th Cir. 1997); and *In re Haaland*, 89 B.R. 845 (S.D. Cal. 1988). These cases all hold that a trustee in bankruptcy has standing to bring a malpractice action against the debtor's attorney. The same reasoning should control in an assignment for the benefit of creditors proceeding, which is essentially a state court bankruptcy procedure.

Even one of the authors of Florida's Assignment statute, which the legislature completely revised in 1987, likens assignments for the benefit of creditors to a Chapter 7 bankruptcy proceeding in that they are both vehicles for the liquidation of insolvent debtors, with the primary difference being the assignment's relative simplicity and the absence of any debtor discharge at the close of the assignment proceeding. See W.L. Courshon, "Florida's New Law on Assignments for the Benefit of Creditors: An Alternative to Bankruptcy," Fla. Bar Journal, Oct. 1987, page 39. In

the Senate Staff Analysis and Economic Impact Statement to S.B. 808, the 1987 Senate Bill that became the Assignment for the Benefit of Creditors statute, the Staff Analyst explained:

It should be noted that SB 808 provides the judiciary with a wide range of discretion in implementing assignments for the benefit of creditors. From this standpoint, the judicial discretion allowed in this area would be akin to that allowed courts in bankruptcy proceedings. Jones, *Senate Staff Analysis and Economic Impact Statement*, S.B. 87-808, Apr. 29, 1987.

In Appletree Square I Limited Partnership and Business Consultants, Inc. v. O'Connor & Hannan, 575 N.W.2d 102 (S. Ct. Minn. 1998), the court distinguished a malpractice claim of the debtor that a liquidating agent in a bankruptcy was pursuing from an ordinary impermissible assignment of a malpractice claim:

The method by which BCI [the liquidating agent] acquired authority over the malpractice claim was more akin to transfer by the operation of law, rather than by an outright assignment. . . . Acquisitions of this nature, where the entity bringing the action merely is representing the original holder, do not come within the traditional definition of an assignment (citing *In re Sweetwater*, 884 F.2d 1323 (10th Cir. 1989).

In the case before this Court, the only difference from the foregoing bankruptcy cases is that it is a state statute as opposed to a federal statute that confers the exact same rights to the assignee. There is no logical basis to suggest that

assignments of legal malpractice claims are any less appropriate under Florida's Assignment statute than they were, and are, under an analogous federal assignment statute.

The Florida statute, of course, is not identical in every detail to federal bankruptcy law. The Petitioners identify one or two differences. But any differences between assignment proceedings and bankruptcy proceedings do not justify treating them differently in terms of the standing of the trustee or assignee to bring professional liability claims. In bankruptcy, the United States Trustee appoints the trustee of the debtor's estate or the creditors can elect the trustee. 11 U.S.C. §§ 701-703. In an assignment for the benefit of creditors, the debtor determines the assignee in the course of signing the documents that initiate the proceeding. Fla. Stat. § 727.104 (2003). If the issue is, as *Forgione* urges, the special confidential relationship between attorney and client, it would seem that in bankruptcy, where the debtor has little or no say in who the trustee will be, it is less appropriate to permit a malpractice proceeding by that trustee than in an Assignment, where the role of the debtor in determining the assignee is more substantial.

One difference that does not exist between bankruptcy and statutory assignments is one that Petitioners suggest in their Brief. The Petitioners contend (as a new argument) that unlike bankruptcy, exemptions in an assignment for the

benefit of creditors proceeding are mandatory; they claim the debtor automatically retains all property that has not been assigned, which they contend must include all property exempt by law from forced sale. There are, at a minimum, three fallacies in this argument. First, it confounds cause and effect, concluding that a legal malpractice claim is unassignable because it is exempt from levy, when in actuality malpractice actions in the usual circumstance are only exempt from levy because they are unassignable. *See Mickler v. Aaron*, 490 So. 2d 1343 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986) and discussion at Part III, below. Second, it ignores the express instrument between MRI and Kaplan that requires any exemptions to be specified in a schedule that happens to list no exemptions whatsoever. Third, it ignores Fla. Stat. § 222.061 (2003), which explains:

When a levy is made by writ of execution, writ of attachment, or writ of garnishment upon personal property which is allowed by law or by the State Constitution to be exempt from levy and sale, *the debtor may claim such personal property to be exempt* from sale by making, within 15 days after the date of the levy, an inventory of his or her personal property . . .

(emphasis added).

Asserting exemptions in an assignment for the benefit of creditors, therefore, is a logical event. It is the right of the debtor, not the debtor's adversary, to determine the extent to which the debtor chooses to claim exemptions. It is

optional. If the debtor declines to exercise the right, then there will be no exemptions. A debtor can waive its exemptions from forced sales. *State Farm Life Ins. Co. v. Florida Asset Fin. Corp.*, 786 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000); *Windsor-Thomas Group, Inc. v. Parker*, 782 So. 2d 488 (2d DCA 2001) (holding that an annuity issuer had standing to assert exemptions as well, but still recognizing that exemption is subject to waiver). The corporate debtor in the case at bar has intended to waive and has waived that exemption with respect to claims brought by the Assignee against the Petitioners. *See Assignment* (R.VI: 1617, 1629, Schedule B. II) (specifying "none" for exemptions or exclusions from the assignment). And the corporation, MRI, has in no way, shape or form asserted any objection to the Assignee bringing this action or claiming the right or entitlement to do so.

The only person or entities asserting the purported exemption, are, not surprisingly, the Petitioners herein. Rather ironically, they argue the Assignee lacks standing, when it is they who lack standing to raise this objection. *See State Farm, supra*; *Windsor-Thomas Group, supra*. The right to assert an exemption to a forced sale belongs to the debtor and (in situations where the exemption is an annuity or retirement plan) to the issuer of the asset. No authority supports the proposition that a defendant can exculpate itself from its own negligence by asserting a right of the plaintiff that the

plaintiff has knowingly and voluntarily waived. The Petitioners' premise, therefore, that exempt property automatically remains with the debtor, thereby distinguishing it from bankruptcy, is unsupportable.

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